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AUTHORITIES ON PONCE DE LEON

There is no good Life of Juan Ponce de Leon extant, and
the writer has been compelled to pursue his subject through
several works, historical in nature, dealing with the times in
which he lived, but affording scant material for a biography.
Such authors as Herrera, Oviedo, Peter Martyr, Gomara, Barcia,
and Las Casas have yielded something, however, and the various
fragments have been pieced together, recourse also being had to
other books on early Spanish discoveries. The author's
researches in the West Indies were not unfruitful, for he has
visited both Santo Domingo and Porto Rico several times, as
well as investigated in Guadeloupe and other islands of the
Lesser Antilles.

Of all the Spanish writers, Barcia is the fullest in details
respecting Ponce de Leon. His work is entitled Ensayo
Cronologico para la Historia General de la Florida. It was put
forth as from the pen of "Don Gabriel de Cardenas,” though
really written by Don Andres Gonzales Barcia, and published in
Madrid, 1723.

Barcia based his narratives referring to De Leon upon
material found in the History by Herrera, who, he says, had
access to the letters which Juan Ponce wrote to the Emperor
Charles V., Cardinal Adrian, and others. (Decade 3, Lib. I., Cap.
14): ". . . Antonio de Herrera comprueba esta Cronologia con
las cartas de el mismo Juan Ponce, escritas at Emperador
Carlos V., at Cardinal Adriano, y otros."

All the sources on Ponce de Leon are mentioned in
Winsor's Narrative and Critical History, and to them the reader
is respectfully referred, with the caution, however, to be
prepared for a long and perhaps wearisome search.
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CHAPTER |

THE VALIANT EXEMPLAR

1443-1482

That great deeds and a broad field of action are not
always commensurate is exemplified in the lives of the Ponces
de Leon, Juan and Rodrigo, noteworthy names of a family famed
in the annals of America and Spain. Of the two, doubtless the
latter was the more distinguished in the land of his birth for
bravery and military skill; but the former achieved a still wider
celebrity by linking his name with the discovery of Florida and
the search for the fountain of youth.

These two famous sons of Spain were not closely related,
although they bore the same patronymic, as Juan came from an
ancient family of Aragon, and Rodrigo from an equally ancient,
and in the fifteenth century more flourishing, house of
Andalusia, or the south of Spain. Both belonged to the hidalguia,
or Spanish nobility; but the northern, or Aragon branch, was in
decadence at the time Juan was born, in or about the year 1460,
while the Andalusian was then rapidly approaching the zenith of
its glory. This, indeed, culminated with the career of Rodrigo
Ponce de Leon (born 1443, died 1492), who, while possessing
vast territory in Spain, with scores of castles, towns, and
villages, passed the greater part of his life in camp.

Soldiers were they both, trained almost from infancy in
the profession of arms; but while Juan was still a page at the
court of Pero Nunez de Guzman, Senor of Toral, Rodrigo could
raise an army of his own retainers and vassals. For he was then
the most illustrious of the Ponces, and, having in youth come
into the ownership of title and estates, was well and widely
known as the powerful Marquis of Cadiz. As his territory, at the
time this story opens, lay contiguous to the region then occupied
by the Moors, with whom for centuries the Spaniards had been

Original Copyright 1908 by Frederick A. Ober

engaged in deadly warfare, he had been, as it were, cradled
beneath the canopies of tents, nurtured upon the traditions of his
ancestors, and matured with Spain's seasoned veterans in the
field. Thus it came to pass that he was regarded by the king and
the queen, Ferdinand of Aragon and Isabella of Castile, as their
most doughty champion, defender of the faith, and implacable
antagonist of the Mahometan Moors.

For more than seven centuries the Moors from Africa had
held possession of some portion of the Iberian peninsula; but at
the period in which Juan and Rodrigo Ponce de Leon appeared
upon the scene they were restricted to a mountainous region
bordering upon the Mediterranean Sea. A thousand years ago,
indeed, the Mahometans had taken as their own the best part of
Spain; they had even crossed the French frontier and threatened
to invade all Europe. Turned about by the blows of Charles
Martel, in that fierce battle of the year 732, the Saracens began
their century-long retreat southward; but nearly five hundred
years elapsed before their power was shattered on the field of
Tolosa. After that the Spaniards gathered courage to attack the
Moors at every opportunity; still, it was not till the end of the
fifteenth century that they were practically driven from Spain.
The refluent wave to Africa was a very long time in reaching its
shores.

It remained for Isabella and Ferdinand to reap the reward
of persistent effort by other sovereigns through the centuries
preceding. They fell heirs to what had been accomplished, what
had been garnered, what achieved by their predecessors, and by
their union they welded together the chain of little kingdoms—of
Spanish provinces—that stretched across the peninsula from the
Mediterranean to Portugal's frontiers. Behind the retreating
Moors the Spaniards erected impregnable barriers: one year they
took and refortified a city, another a province, a mountain range,
a river and its banks; but whatever was taken they held. Broader
and broader became the region that lay north of the Moors, from
which they were banished forever; narrower and narrower the
territory that lay between it and the Mediterranean, until, in the
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last quarter of the fifteenth century, they held only the Sierra
Nevada and the country skirting it. But this territory comprised
the most fertile, the most beautiful region of Spain, where the
climate was perfect, the scenery perfection. Trickling rivulets
from the Nevadas, or Snowy Mountains, fed sparkling streams
that descended through picturesque valleys, nourishing an
exuberant vegetation which supported a large population without
toilsome effort on their part.

The Moors were still numerous in that portion of Spain
to which the exigencies of war had driven their ancestors; they
were yet fierce and warlike, and now and again, like hawks
swooping from their aeries, they descended from their mountain
valleys and ravished Christian territory. But they could make no
head against the encroachments of the Spaniards, and were
fortunate if they could hold what they had: the towns and
villages embosomed within rock-walled valleys; cities like Loja
and Granada, with beautiful mosques and teeming market-
places; castles like the Alhambra, with its impregnable
fortifications girdling the Hill of the Sun, that towered above the
"city of the faithful™ in Spain.

Within the Alhambra, at the opening of the year 1580,
dwelt the powerful Moorish sovereign Muley Aben Hassan, who
had succeeded to the throne in 1465. Granada was his capital,
the glorious Alhambra his palace of delights, while his sway
extended over six-score fortified cities and towns. Still, he was
expected by the Christian sovereigns to pay them annual tribute,
in default of which his territory was subject to invasion. He had
not paid it, then, these many years; but only a few months before
King Ferdinand had sent an embassy with a demand for the
tribute, in money and captives, which was customary in the time
of Muley's father, Ismael. The embassy was received with
courtesy, and sumptuously entertained in the palace of the
Alhambra, but when Muley Hassan heard the message he is said
to have returned the haughty answer: "The kings of Granada
who used to pay tribute to the Castilians are dead—tell your
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sovereigns. Our mints coin now nothing but lance-heads and
scimitar-blades; but these are at their service!"

An armed truce had existed for years between the
Spaniards and the Moors, but, as was perfectly apparent to both
Mahometans and Christians, a crucial conflict in the very near
future was inevitable. The insolent reply of the Moorish king
rendered it so, even if existing conditions had not; but at the time
King Ferdinand was unable to proceed against his mortal enemy,
owing to a war with Portugal and dissensions in his kingdom.
Muley Hassan was very well aware of this fact, else he might not
have proceeded so far as, in effect, to throw the gauntlet at his
rival's feet. It was too late to retreat, even though too early to
begin a war; but he deliberately chose the dread alternative, and
cast the die that determined his fate and doomed his people to
destruction.

Taking advantage of King Ferdinand's preoccupation in
Portugal, the wily Muley Hassan suddenly descended upon
Zahara, a Spanish post on his western frontier. In itself, Zahara
was not a very desirable acquisition; but its castle-fortress,
perched as it was upon a great cliff overlooking a fertile stretch
of Spanish territory, gave it vast strategic importance. One
stormy winter's night, in Christmas week of 1481, a band of
Moorish soldiery scaled the battlements and fell upon the
unsuspecting garrison as if from the clouds. The long period of
peace had rendered the Spaniards negligent, and the fierce
tempest had driven the sentinels to shelter, so that the Moors
took them entirely by surprise. Aroused from their slumbers by
fiendish yells and war-cries, the soldiers of the garrison rushed
to arms; but only to be cut down by Moorish scimitars, and in a
short time the fortress was in possession of the foe. With its fall
also fell the town of which it was the citadel, and the wretched
inhabitants, assembled in the great square by call of trumpet,
were quickly made captive, and at daybreak driven off in gangs
to Granada. After garrisoning the fortress with his own soldiers,
and placing it in a posture of defence, Muley Hassan returned to
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his capital, flushed with victory, and carrying an immense
amount of spoil.

When King Ferdinand heard of this exploit his rage was
great, his indignation intense; for, though he himself was merely
biding the time to strike a telling blow at his adversary, he did
not relish the idea of being forestalled. Still, the Moor had done
for him what all his diplomacy had thus far failed to accomplish:
he had united, at a stroke, the various factions of the Spanish
nobility, who came pouring into camp with offers of immediate
assistance.

Now, while the king believed in fighting fire with fire, as
the Spanish proverb has it: Sacar fuego con otro fuego
(quenching one fire with another)—he was not then in position
to act. He was laying his plans for an invasion of Moorish
territory on such a scale that, once undertaken, not merely
detached outposts should be reduced, but eventually the entire
kingdom. He was already assembling the forces of Spain for a
siege that was eventually protracted over ten years' time, and he
must necessarily proceed cautiously and slowly, taking one sure
step at a time.

It was at this juncture, while the king was planning
moves of magnitude on the martial chess-board, which he was
fearful of deranging by a petty play, yet burning with a desire for
revenge upon his foe for the taking of Zahara, that the Marquis
of Cadiz came to the rescue. By a sudden foray into the enemy's
territory, and by a feat of arms unsurpassed in any age for dash
and gallantry, he relieved the situation by a slash of his sword,
and gratified his sovereign's longing for revenge.

His dukedom comprised vast possessions in Andalusia
contiguous to the Moorish provinces, and in his service he held
many converted Moors as scouts, or adalides, who spied upon
the movements of their countrymen and reported to their master
what was going on. They informed him one day that if he wished
to make reprisals upon Muley Hassan a golden opportunity
offered in the surprising of Alhama, a town and fortress situated
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similarly to Zahara, near the frontier, and occupying cragged
heights partially surrounded by a river. The valiant marquis
desired nothing so much as a chance to signalize himself in the
interests of his sovereigns, and at once, upon receipt of the
information, despatched his trusty retainer, Ortega de Prado, a
captain of escaladors, to survey the fortress and report upon the
practicability of carrying it by storm. He did so one dark night,
and returned with the report that Alhama was negligently
guarded, and that its walls, though lofty and steep, could
probably be scaled.

Then Rodrigo Ponce de Leon, Marquis of Cadiz,
collected three thousand cavalry and four thousand infantry,
nearly all his own retainers, and on a day in February, 1482, set
out for Alhama. His troops were veterans, inured to war from
their frequent encounters with the Moors. Upon being told that
the object of the foray was the reduction of Alhama and the
avenging of the Zaharenos, they demanded to be led at once to
the assault. All were brave men, without fear of death; but the
marquis would not needlessly expose them, so, although they
could then see the town and fortress from their hiding-places in
the sierra, he waited till the shades of night had fallen. Then they
approached the castle on the crag, arriving near the base of
which three hundred picked men were selected for its assault,
while the main body of the army remained in ambush.

Two or three hours before daylight, Ortega de Prado and
his thirty escaladors planted their ladders against the walls, and
up the gallant three hundred clambered to the battlements. Over
the parapet they poured, and had gained the portal to the citadel
before they were discovered. As the Moorish soldiers came forth
they were slaughtered without mercy, and soon the uproar within
reached the army without, which joined in with loud shouts and
the din of kettle-drum and trumpet. A postern-gate was thrown
open by the brave Prado, and in rushed the Christians, led by the
Marquis of Cadiz and the Adelantado of Andalusia.

The Moors fought valiantly, as heaps of slain attested,
the Christian losses including two alcaldes and many followers;
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but all their spirited defence was in vain. Soon the castle was in
possession of the Spaniards, and with it fell the town; though not
until after a protracted defence, for it was also surrounded by
high walls, which the Spaniards were compelled to scale by
means of their ladders, and even then did not carry until after a
breach had been opened by their artillery. After the walls were
gained the Moors fought desperately from roof-tops, thresholds,
and hearth-stones; for they knew no mercy would be shown
them, and that all survivors, women and children as well as men,
would be carried away as captives and immured in dungeons or
sold as slaves. They were finally overcome, and while the groans
of the wounded and laments of prisoners filled the air, the
Spanish soldiery gave themselves up to the sacking of the town.
Vast booty was obtained, consisting of gold and silver, cattle,
horses, silks, grain, and honey; for Alhama was called the richest
town in Muley Hassan's kingdom, and was a repository for rents
and tribute-money.

Believing that town and castle were to be abandoned, the
soldiery committed great destruction of portable property, and
wasted provisions which they should have saved; but the
marquis had no intention of loosing his hold on this erstwhile
stronghold of the Moors.

"Nay, nay," he said. "God hath given the place into our
hands. We have gained it with difficulty and bloodshed; it would
be a stain upon our honor to abandon it through fear of
imaginary dangers."

So preparations were made to hold both town and castle.
The baggage of the army, which had been left on the bank of a
river, was sent for, the breaches in the walls were repaired, and
everything made ready for a siege; for the marquis well knew
that Muley Hassan had received tidings of what had befallen his
stronghold, and he knew, also, that the fiery Moor would lose no
time in hastening hither with an army. Within three days, in
truth, he was before the walls with fifty thousand horse and foot,
and finding them impregnable, though his fanatical followers
attempted to scale them again and again, he sat down for a siege
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until his artillery should arrive. The Christians within the walls
had food enough, but little water, for the Moors succeeded in
diverting a stream that ran through the town, and the besieged
came near perishing from thirst.

Information of their perilous situation was conveyed by
fleet messengers to the king and the queen, who were then at a
distance from Andalusia; also to the several petty lords of the
southern country, who, like the Marquis of Cadiz, could muster
little armies of their own. At once there was a great commotion
throughout all southern Spain, and the most energetic of the
nobles was Don Juan de Guzman, Duke of Medina Sidonia,
equally powerful with the Marquis of Cadiz, but hitherto his
deadly enemy. Won over by the Marquesa Ponce, who entreated
him to go to her husband's assistance, he associated other
cavaliers with him, and in a short time a large army was
marching upon Alhama. Another army was being raised under
the direct command of the king, and information of this coming
to the ears of Muley Hassan, he exerted himself to the utmost to
carry the castle by storm before the reinforcements should
arrive.

His escaladors mounted the walls by hundreds, only to be
thrown headlong back into the ravines; but by means of a secret
passage some seventy fierce Africans gained access to the
citadel before they were discovered and attacked by the garrison.
A most desperate engagement ensued, but the Moors were
finally overwhelmed by superior numbers and the last Moslem
cut down. The banner of the prophet, which they had defended
so valiantly, was then displayed from the ramparts, while
seventy turbaned heads were thrown over the walls to dismay
the besiegers.

At sight of the captured banner and the dissevered heads,
Muley Hassan went wild with rage; but he was unable then to
avenge his valiant followers, for close upon him now were
pressing the forces of Medina Sidonia. Compelled to retreat,
back to Granada he hastened, and into the castle poured Don
Rodrigo's rescuers, ere the last Moorish banner had disappeared
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behind the hills. Thus Alhama, which was won by Rodrigo
Ponce de Leon, and rescued by his life-long foe the Duke of
Medina Sidonia, continued in Spanish possession and has ever
since remained.

CHAPTER |1

FIGHTING THE MOORS

1483-1492

Although the Marquis of Cadiz, by his inconsiderate
attack upon Alhama, had precipitated the war which his
sovereign would fain have delayed another year or two, still, as
he and the Duke of Medina Sidonia had borne the brunt of the
fighting, and sustained themselves in the captured fortress until
Muley Hassan had been driven away, King Ferdinand regarded
them now with greater favor than ever. They divided the laurels
between them; and it was not the least of the rich results of this
independent foray, in the opinion of the king, that these hitherto
implacable enemies should have become reconciled, and
thereafter marched forth shoulder to shoulder.

It was not to be expected that the Moors would take their
defeat with good grace, although Alhama was but a fair
exchange for Zahara, and not a long time elapsed before the
agile Muley Hassan made a ravage of Medina Sidonia, which
resulted in the loss to the duke of many followers and great
herds of cattle. As the Moors were retreating upon Malaga,
however, they were attacked by a gallant captain in the service
of Rodrigo Ponce, and lost a large number out of the cavalgada,
or herd, which they had collected, besides some of their bravest
cavaliers. King Muley was greatly incensed; but he would not
engage with his main body in conflict, for, as he sagaciously
said, after viewing the field: "A handful of troops acquainted
with the wild passes of these mountains might well be able to
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destroy an army encumbered as ours is with booty. Allah
preserve us from these hard riders of Xeres!"

Thousands of cattle and horses were allowed to escape in
the defiles of the mountains, but other thousands were driven in
triumph to Malaga, and on the whole the foray was a great
success for the Moors. In retaliation therefore the Marquis of
Cadiz resolved upon a counter-foray into Moorish territory. He
associated with him such gallant cavaliers as the Adelantado of
Andalusia, the Count of Cifuentes, the Master of Santiago, and
valiant Don Alonzo de Aguilar, who had saved the baggage of
his army in the march upon Alhama.

It was a brilliant cavalcade, nearly three thousand strong,
that set forth from the old city of Antiquera one morning in
March, 1483, for the mountains of Malaga, with prancing steeds,
flaunting banners, and amid the din of drum and trumpet. They
should have reserved this noise and display for the return,
however, for it proclaimed their purpose to the Moorish spies,
who quickly informed the commander of the garrison at Malaga.
He was a younger brother of Muley Aben Hassan, named Muley
Abdallah, but more generally known as "El Zagal," or the
Valiant. He was fierce and fiery, but extremely crafty, and when
he heard of the prancing cavaliers approaching, resolved to meet
them in the mountains and if possible cut them off. He first
despatched trusty officers to arouse the mountaineers, who were
all fanatical Mahometans, and then followed as rapidly as
possible with his cavalry.

At sunset of their second day's march the Spaniards
arrived within sight of Malaga and the Mediterranean, which
they beheld at a distance from a lofty pass of the mountains.
They were then in the midst of Moorish hamlets, scattered
throughout the elevated valleys; but all the huts were deserted,
for the mountaineers had been warned, and had fled to the
fastnesses with all their belongings. From the battlements of
lonely atalayas, or watch-towers, they looked down upon the
Spanish horsemen struggling through deep barrancas and over
the ramblas, or dry beds of mountain torrents.
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As night came on, and the flames from huts and villages
which the Spaniards had set on fire showed the mountaineers the
perilous position of their foes, a shout of exultation went up
from the Moors on every side. Showers of darts, stones, and
arrows descended from the watch-towers and from the brinks of
impending precipices, upon the heads of the Spaniards. Alarm-
fires ran from rock to rock, and lighted up the gloomy scene
sufficiently for the Moors to attack, but not for the Spaniards to
repel the assaults of their almost invisible foes. Great rocks,
loosened from the cliffs, came plunging down upon the hapless
Spaniards, who knew not which way to turn in order to escape.

It was no longer "On to Malaga,” but "Every man for
himself," since all were equally helpless. In the midst of the
tumult, while some of the Spanish horsemen were hemmed
within a deep ravine, the war-cries of "El Zagal" resounded from
the cliffs. Day was dawning, and the Marquis of Cadiz could see
approaching down the defiles the trained troops of El Zagal,
guided and supported by the mountaineers. He attempted to form
his men in battle array, but through their ranks dashed fragments
of rock, hurled from the cliffs above, while darts and lances fell
like hail.

The horse of the marquis was killed beneath him. Two
brothers and two nephews were pierced by lances and fell dead
within his sight. A huge fragment of rock swept his last
remaining brother, Beltram, from his saddle, crushed and dying,
at which the marquis gave a cry of anguish and fled the field. All
his relatives and most of his followers were either dead,
wounded, or prisoners, so there was nothing to stay for, and,
guided by a faithful adalide, he made his way back to Antiquera.

Thenceforth, for months, the marquis bided his time for
revenge. It came before the year was ended, for one day his
scouts reported the advent of a small body of Gomeres, or
fighting Moors from Africa, who were ravaging the plains of
Andalusia, not far from his capital city of Xeres. As his faithful
troops were always prepared for action, he and they were soon
on the trail of the invaders, who had become alarmed and were
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retreating towards the fastnesses of Ronda. The faster they
retreated, the faster the marquis pursued, for in their flight some
of the Moorish warriors had cast aside pieces of the very armor,
such as helms and corselets, of which they had stripped the
Christians in the mountains of Malaga. This proved them to be
the same who had committed that dreadful massacre, and even
though their numbers might be overwhelming, nothing on earth
could stay the marquis in his pursuit.

The approach of night, and the apparent cessation of the
pursuit (for the marquis had made a detour behind a hill, which
hid him and his men from sight), gave the Gomeres confidence,
and they halted awhile to refresh their panting steeds, on the
banks of the river Guadalete. Suddenly, without warning, the
avenging Spaniards burst forth, and though inferior in numbers,
put them to flight, with slaughter. Many of the Moors wore
armor which they had taken previously from the Spaniards, and
these being recognized, were the first selected for massacre,
while the marquis, seeing a powerful warrior riding the very
horse on which his brother Beltram had been killed, attacked
him with the fury of a tiger. The contest was short, though fierce,
and ended in the death of the Moor, who could not withstand the
onset of the avenger, whose lance transfixed and threw him to
the ground. The enemy fled in wild confusion to the hills,
hundreds of them falling by the way, to rise no more; but the
marquis did not join now in the pursuit, since his brother had
been avenged.

He caught the horse from which he had hurled the
Moorish warrior, and gazed long and mournfully, as in a trance,
at the empty saddle. Both steed and saddle Beltram, his brother,
once had owned, and ridden into battle many times. Tears came
to his eyes, a sigh burst from his bosom, and he murmured, as if
communing with the departed, "Ay de mi, hermano!" (Woe is
me, my brother!)

The brothers of the marquis had been avenged, but not
the deadly insult to his pride of birth, and honor. He had
hastened the war against the Moors of Granada by the taking of
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Alhama, which in turn had fallen in requital for the loss of
Zahara. While the latter continued in possession of the Moors,
he considered the fact a reproach against the Christians, and
resolved to regain it for his king by force of arms or strategy. To
resolve was to act, with this energetic Marquis of Cadiz. Having
informed himself, through his spies, that Zahara was weakly
garrisoned, he marched against it with about two thousand
soldiers, horse and foot. It was in the month of October, 1483,
and between midnight and morning, that he and his men secreted
themselves in the ravines around the fortress of Zahara.

So silently and secretly had they arrived, that the Moors
within had no knowledge of their coming, until, shortly after
dawn, a small body of cavalry rode within gunshot of the
fortress gate, as if to defy them to come out and skirmish. The
Moors were ever brave and fiery, so a band of seventy sallied
forth, and pursued the Christians towards the ravines, until,
hearing a tumult behind them, they turned and saw a party of the
enemy scaling the walls. Instantly they wheeled about for the
gate, which they gained, though the Spaniards in ambush tried to
cut them off. Failing in this attempt, the marquis immediately
went to the assistance of Ortega de Prado, who was endeavoring
to plant his ladders against the walls. Sword in hand, he sprang
from his horse and mounted a ladder to the battlements, where
he led his troops in such a vigorous attack upon the garrison, that
the fortress was soon in possession of the Spaniards. For this
gallant action the king gave him authority to use, in addition to
his original title, that of the "Marquis of Zahara"; but as the
Marquis of Cadiz he is better known.

Two years more passed away before the marquis
signalized himself by a great action, though he was constantly
engaged in warlike operations under the king. While the latter
was vainly attempting to force the surrender of Malaga, in the
year 1485, Rodrigo received intelligence from an apostate Moor
of Ronda that its fortress, considered one of the strongest and
most important then held by the enemy, was without an adequate
force to repel a determined assault upon its walls. Ronda was
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like an eagle's nest, amid the crags of the sierras, with towers
and triple walls rising above and surrounded by a ravine with
precipitous sides, in the depths of which flowed a rapid river. It
was under command of Hamet el Zegri, fiercest of African
Moors, who had often defied the marquis and ravaged his
territory. Rodrigo longed to meet and measure swords with him,
but another reason for the capture of Ronda existed in the fact
that within its dungeons were confined some of his former
companions, who had been made captive in the Malaga
mountains.

King Ferdinand fell in with Marquis Rodrigo's plan at
once, heartily approving of the deep strategy at the bottom of it,
which in brief was this: The king, who had really set about the
siege of Malaga in earnest, was to return suddenly in the
direction of Ronda, and surround it with his army. Meanwhile,
Hamet el Zegri, attracted by the defenceless condition of
Andalusia, from the plains of which the Christian troops had
been withdrawn, could not resist a chance for ravage, and set
forth with the better part of his garrison, intending to make a
forced march into the heart of the land, gather an immense
cavalgada of cattle and captives, and return without unnecessary
delay. This, in the language of the great Captain Drake, who
harried King Philip, a century later, would be "singeing the King
of Spain's whiskers," in truth. But, as the sequel showed, it was
the Moor who lost his whiskers, and not the Castilian, for, when
Hamet el Zegri returned from his ravage, with vast herds of
cattle, flocks of sheep, and, in fact, spoil of every sort, he was
astonished at hearing the thunder of cannon. Spurring his horse
to a mountain crag that overlooked the region roundabout, he
saw a vast army encamped beneath the walls of Ronda, which
were visibly dissolving before a well-directed fire of artillery.

He raged and gnashed his teeth, of course; but to what
avail? The Christian army was between him and his stronghold,
overwhelmingly numerous, and so strong that repeated attempts
to cut his way through it were repulsed with fearful loss to the
Moorish forces. Old Zegri retreated into the heart of the

Distributed by Heritage History 2009



mountains like a lion at bay, making frequent springs at his
enemy, loath to abandon the stronghold in which he had
formerly held sway without dispute; but at last he turned his
back upon it, never to return.

The walls fell in masses and the great towers crumbled,
beneath the cannon-fire of Ferdinand's gunners; fiery balls of
tow were hurled into the town and set the houses in flames; but
the stout-hearted inhabitants of Ronda did not capitulate until
their water supply was cut off, and they were forced by thirst to
surrender. The Marquis of Cadiz discovered the subterranean
supply upon which they drew, by means of a shaft through the
solid rock, and cut it off, by counter-mining from the side of a
precipitous cliff.

The fall of Ronda was followed by the release of the
Christians captured two years before, who had lain in the
dungeons loaded with manacles, scarce daring to hope for
deliverance. The chains they wore were exhibited to Queen
Isabella, and afterwards hung on the walls of a church in Toledo
known as San Juan de los Reyes—where the writer of this
biography has seen them—reminders of Moorish barbarity four
hundred years ago.

After the fall of Ronda, which was mainly due to the rare
discernment of Rodrigo Ponce de Leon, this cavalier was, if
possible, held in greater esteem than ever by the king. He
accompanied him at court and in the field, and on one occasion,
at Velez Malaga, in 1487, was instrumental in saving his life.
The king had gone with the advance-guard to take possession of
a height overlooking the city. Suddenly confronted by a superior
force of the enemy, his escort was thrown into confusion, and
Ferdinand, left for the moment unprotected, was surrounded by
the Moors. They pressed upon him so closely that he could not
draw the sword which hung at his saddle-bow, but with his lance
he transfixed a Moor who had cut down one of his grooms, and
then was helpless, in the midst of his foes.
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"In this moment of awful jeopardy,” writes the talented
author of the Conquest of Granada, "the Marquis of Cadiz and
four other cavaliers came galloping to the scene of action, and,
surrounding the king, made a loyal rampart of their bodies
against the assaults of the Moors. The horse of the marquis was
pierced by an arrow, and that worthy cavalier exposed to
imminent danger; but with the aid of his valorous companions he
quickly put the enemy to flight, and pursued them, with
slaughter, to the very gates of the city."

Such glorious actions as these we have narrated caused
Rodrigo Ponce de Leon to be regarded as the "mirror of
chivalry,"” by the queen, who did not hesitate to declare him
almost the equal in prowess of Spain's immortal hero, the great
and glorious Cid. He always claimed the post of danger as his by
right, and at the siege of Malaga, which was begun in the early
summer of 1487, he was stationed opposite the most powerful
fortress of Gibralfero, against which he directed the fire of his
lombards and led the assault.

While in camp here he was honored with a visit from his
sovereigns, whom he entertained in a silken tent decorated with
hangings of rich brocade. After serving a bountiful collation, he
invited the queen and her ladies to witness the effect of a
discharge of his artillery against the Gibralfero fortress. As the
thunder of the lombards woke the echoes of the mountains, and
huge masses of the Moorish fortification fell to the ground, the
high-born dames exclaimed with delight; but as the smoke rolled
away, revealing the battlements of the fortress, their cries were
subdued by a feeling of pity for their gallant host, whose swarthy
cheeks, at the same moment, crimsoned with shame. For there
they saw, floating above the ramparts, his own banner of Cadiz,
which had been taken from him at the time of the massacre in
the mountains. Some of the enemy, also, had arrayed themselves
in garments and armor of which they had despoiled the
Christians at that time, and at these things they pointed, as well
as at the banner, with derisive gestures and cries.
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The royal party was silent, from sympathy, and the
marquis held his peace; but after the sovereigns' departure his
repressed rage broke forth, in an artillery fire of redoubled
intensity. All that night and next day the cannon roared and
volleyed, until the tower from which the banner had flaunted so
defiantly was reduced to ruins, and a breach opened in the lower
walls. Advancing his camp still nearer, he meditated an assault
next morning; but was forestalled by the Moors themselves,
who, two thousand strong, sallied out, and put his men to flight.
They nearly succeeded in capturing another banner, indeed, and
utterly destroying the camp, when he stemmed the tide, sword in
hand, and, shouting to his men: "To the foe! To the foe!" turned
what threatened to be a defeat into a victory. It was a barren one,
however, and dearly was it bought, for many cavaliers had
fallen, and among them the brave Ortega de Prado, who may be
said to have begun the final war against the Moors of Granada,
by his initiative at the storming of Alhama.

In this destructive war to the death, which was prolonged
through ten years of almost incessant fighting, the Marquis of
Cadiz, Rodrigo Ponce de Leon, bore a most important part, from
its beginning to its ending, in 1492. He was one of the cavaliers
selected by King Ferdinand to act as sponsors to his son, Prince
Juan, when he began his career of arms and received the dignity
of knighthood on the field of war, beneath the walls of Granada.
He was also one of the principal nobles who accompanied the
king in that last campaign against the Moors of Granada, when,
with an army fifty thousand strong, in the month of April, 1491,
he began the siege which was not to end until the last Moslem
had capitulated. He took an active part in every engagement in
front of the walls, witnessed the raising of the Spanish banner
above the tower of La Vela, and was one of the knightly
cavalcade that guarded the sovereigns when they received the
capitulation of Boabdil, last king of the Moors, on the banks of
the Xenil.

It was in January, 1492, that the Marquis of Cadiz
entered the glorious Alhambra palace, in the train of Ferdinand
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and Isabella, and participated in the ceremonies that attended
their re-enthronement in the famed "Hall of Justice.” He may
have been there when, a little later, in the same place, they
signed the "capitulation” with Columbus for the voyage that
resulted in the discovery of America; but a few weeks after he
returned to his marquisate, hoping to enjoy the pleasures of a
lasting peace. It was not to be his privilege, however, for,
exhausted by the fatigues he had undergone and the wounds he
had received, he expired at Seville August 27, 1492.
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CHAPTER I

PONCE DE LEON IN AMERICA

1493-1502

Rodrigo Ponce de Leon, Marquis of Cadiz, the foremost
Spanish champion in the Moorish wars, passed away seven
months after the surrender of Granada, and in that very month of
August, 1492, which witnessed the sailing of Christopher
Columbus for the New World, afterwards called America. Long
before he closed his eyes to earthly scenes, he had achieved a
reputation far surpassing that of any other Ponce de Leon; but
another of the name was soon in the field, who was to perpetuate
his most heroic exploits, though in a land far distant over the
ocean.

Juan Ponce de Leon (who, needless to say, perhaps, is the
actual subject of this biography) was also engaged in the wars
against the Moors of Granada, but in a humbler capacity than his
illustrious exemplar. He was born at San Servos, province of
Campos, Spain, in 1560, and was thus seventeen years the junior
of Rodrigo Ponce, as well as his inferior in rank. Taken into the
household of Don Pero Nunez de Guzman as a page, he
afterwards won his way to distinction of a sort, but has not to his
credit in Spain such doughty deeds as are ascribed to Rodrigo
the marquis. The Spanish historians have little to say of his life
in the land of his birth, save to mention that he served in the
wars without becoming conspicuous either for bravery or
cowardice, and assisted his king, like many thousand others, in
wresting the province of Granada from the Moors.

It might be a pleasure to know, and to be able to say, that
young Juan Ponce, of Leon, was a great favorite with King
Ferdinand and his consort; that he everywhere followed his titled
namesake into the thickest of the fray; that he bearded the
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Moslem warriors in their strongholds, and that he finally retired
to his estates with vast spoil obtained from the infidels. But we
must defer to the verities of history, which are silent as to the
formative period of Juan Ponce's career. We may imagine all
these things; and it is within the realm of probability that Juan,
like Rodrigo, was present at the conference between the
sovereigns and Columbus; that he may have seen the great
navigator when, in sorrow and sadness, he left Queen Isabella’s
silken tent with the intention of departing from Spain forever; or
witnessed his joyous return to receive her sanction to his
enterprise, after having been overtaken by her messenger at the
Bridge of Pines.

Rodrigo the marquis left Granada for his home, but to
die; Columbus went to Palos, whence he sailed for a new world
beyond the ocean; Juan Ponce disappears, after leaving Granada,
and quite ten years elapse before he clearly appears against a
background of events important in themselves. In order to
account for him after the siege, some of the older historians have
him sail with Columbus on his voyage of 1493; and this is far
from improbable, though there exists no proof. The author of the
Ensayo Gronologico Para la Historia de Florida, published in
1723, says, quoting Oviedo's Historia General y Natural de las
Indias: "Ponce de Leon was one of the original conquistadores
of Hispaniola, having gone there with Don Cristopher
Columbus, in 1493, as a captain of infantry."”

Oviedo, the historian, to whom this reference is made,
makes the statement that Juan Ponce de Leon went to
Hispaniola, or Santo Domingo, as a captain; that he was a man
well-born, and hidalgo. "I knew him very well," he says, "and he
is one of those who came to these parts [he was writing of the
West Indies] with the first admiral, Don Christopher Columbus,
in the second voyage which he made to these islands."

Richard Eden, the English translator of Peter Martyr's
Decades, in the latter half of the sixteenth century, quaintly says:
"This John Ponce had before sayled with Chrystopher Colon to
the ilande of Hispaniola, in the yeare 1493. He was a gentle
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souldier in the warres of the ilande, and captayne of the prouince
of Higuel for Nycolas de Ovando, that conquested the same."”
The best-known of modern historians, Washington Irving,
accepts this statement also; but if Juan Ponce sailed to the West
Indies in 1493, and was afterwards, as some say, concerned in
the conspiracy of Francisco Roldan (who plotted and eventually
accomplished the overthrow of Christopher Columbus and his
brothers), he held such an obscure position as to merit no
mention by contemporary chroniclers.

Whenever he went to the West Indies, when at last he
bursts upon our vision he is a seasoned soldier of capacity. Such
he is when the first mention is made of deeds of his worthy the
telling. He was thirty-two years of age when Granada
surrendered; he was forty-two when Ovando, with whom he
served, embarked for the West Indies, and fifty-two when he
went in search of the mythical "fountain of youth.” He was a
young man in the first instance, still young in the second
instance, and not beyond middle-age when the third occurred;
yet nearly every writer alludes to him as "old."

"Age had not tempered the love of enterprise,” says
Bancroft, referring to an adventure in 1509, when Ponce de Leon
was only forty-nine; yet this historian lived to be nearly twice
that age, and doubtless would have resented being called
"elderly "at fifty or under. Again, after his vain search for the
fountain of youth, he "remained an old man,” says the same
writer; yet he was then only fifty-three, and scarce sixty-two
when an Indian arrow terminated his career. But Juan Ponce de
Leon appears on the world's stage a veteran at the outset,
springing into the arena, like Minerva, fully armed and
equipped.

Nicolas de Ovando, who was despatched to Hispaniola
by King Ferdinand to supersede Francisco de Bobadilla (the man
who won unenviable distinction by sending the Columbus
brothers home to Spain in chains), was a person whom a
monarch might trust, but an ordinary man of affairs would not.
Ferdinand of Spain was impressed by his gracious presence and
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his courtesy, his fluent speech, his superficial modesty, and,
courtier-like, neglected to pry beneath that promising exterior.
Perhaps he did not care to, for this red-headed commander of the
order of Alcantara, who afterwards proved himself a veritable
fiend in human guise, possessed influence at court which would
have landed him in high position, had the grand cardinal himself
opposed.

Sent out to the West Indies ostensibly to succeed
Bobadilla, but in reality to oppose the just claims of Columbus,
and wring from the despairing natives their last grain of gold and
tribute of labor, Ovando measured fully up to his sovereign's
expectations. Selfish, avaricious, coldly calculating, brutal,
Ferdinand himself could not surpass this loathsome creature
selected to carry out his purposes in Hispaniola. But he had at
his command almost unlimited resources, and he sailed from
Spain with the largest fleet that had ever left its shores for those
of the New World, consisting of thirty ships, carrying out
twenty-five hundred emigrants, including people of rank and
high connections.

The misled sovereigns allowed the despicable Ovando to
dress himself in silks and brocades, in evidence of his elevated
rank, and to surround himself with a body-guard of seventy-two
esquires; but it had not been long since the man Columbus, who
discovered the island to which this wretch was sent with
authority, had returned to Spain a prisoner and in chains! The
expedition sailed on February 13, 1502, and, after a stormy
voyage, in which one of the vessels foundered, carrying down
with it more than one hundred passengers, arrived at Hispaniola
two months later.

The city of Santo Domingo, on the south coast of the
island, had been founded by Don Bartholomew, brother of
Christopher Columbus, six years before. It owed its origin to the
richness of the surrounding country, for its harbor, at the mouth
of the river Ozama, was the nearest of any to the region in which
gold had been discovered in quantities. The exaggerated reports
of its richness which had been sent to Spain had crowded
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Ovando's ships with adventurers, who, as soon as they landed,
hastened at once to the mines, where they expected to find the
precious metal lying in great nuggets on the surface of the
ground and glistening in the waters of the streams.

It is true that the largest nugget ever sent to Spain from
America was found in this auriferous region, at about eight
leagues distance from the city. It was the same on which the
lucky discoverers served a roasted pig, vaunting that the King of
Spain himself could not boast such a table; but they lost it, not
long after, having shipped it in the vessel that sank with
Bobadilla, in the terrible hurricane predicted by Columbus.

The good bishop, Las Casas, who was in the island at the
time the adventurers landed and scurried for the mines, says that
they "expected to gather gold as easily and readily as fruit from
the trees"; but, alas, how soon and how bitterly were they
disappointed! Unused to labor of any kind, they promptly
abandoned the mines, when they found that gold could only be
obtained by toilful digging, and it was not long before the roads
and trails leading to Santo Domingo were again thronged with
these same despairing cavaliers, who, having exhausted their
resources, besought Ovando to send them back to Spain. That
would have been the wisest course to pursue, for the island was
already over-populated with worthless Spaniards of the non-
producing class; but the governor induced them to remain by
bestowing extensive grants of land, along with which went large
numbers of Indians as slaves.

Now, Ovando had been expressly forbidden by Isabella
and Ferdinand to continue this system of repartimientos, as the
wholesale distribution of the natives in this manner was termed.
In fact, he had been commanded to abolish it throughout the
island; but, finding that the Indians would not work unless
compelled, he had not carried out the wishes of the sovereigns.
Instead, he had represented to them that the natives not only
refused to labor, when released from their obligation to do so,
but lapsed into paganism, to the great detriment of their morals.
This hypocritical plea had its effect upon Isabella, who ordered
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the Indians under restraint again, but recommended that they
should be paid for their labor and treated humanely.

The word humanity was not in the Spaniard's vocabulary,
and it could hardly be expected that the fiendish Ovando would
have use for it. He had, in effect, the sovereigns' authority for re-
enslaving the Indians, and promptly availed himself of it to
bestow upon his friends all the natives he could capture, by the
use of dogs and savage soldiery. Soon there was no portion of
the island exempt from ravage, no body of Indians that was not
forced to labor for the Spaniards.

"Under cover of this hired labor," says the veracious
historian, Mr. Irving, "more intolerable toil was exacted from
them, and more horrible cruelties were inflicted, than in the
worst days of Bobadilla. They were often separated the distance
of several days' journey from their wives and children, and
doomed to intolerable labor of all kinds, extorted by the cruel
infliction of the lash. For food they had only cassava bread, an
unsubstantial support for men obliged to labor, and so little of
that that when the Spaniards who superintended the mines were
at their repasts (says Las Casas), the famished Indians scrambled
under the table, like dogs, for any bone thrown to them. While
the Spaniards thus withheld the nourishment necessary to sustain
their health and strength, they exacted a degree of labor
sufficient to break down the most vigorous man. If the Indians
fled from this incessant toil and took refuge in the mountains,
they were hunted out like wild beasts, scourged in the most
inhuman manner, and laden with chains to prevent a second
escape.

"Many perished long before their term of labor expired.
Those who survived their term of six or eight months were
permitted to return to their homes until the next term
commenced; but their homes were often fifty or sixty miles
distant. They had nothing to sustain them through the long
journey but a few roots, peppers, or a little cassava bread. Worn
down by long-continued toil and cruel hardships, which their
feeble constitutions were incapable of sustaining, many had not
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strength to perform the journey, but sank down and died by the
way: some by the side of a brook, others under the shade of a
tree, where they had crawled for shelter from the sun."”

It must be remembered that this report of Spanish
cruelties was not made on hearsay, but came from an eye-
witness, Bishop Las Casas, who continues: "I have found many
an Indian dead in the road, others gasping under the trees, and
others in the pangs of death, faintly crying, 'Hunger! hunger!
Those who reached their homes most commonly found them
desolate, for during the eight months they had been absent their
wives and children had either perished or wandered away; the
fields on which they depended for food were overrun with
weeds, and nothing was left them but to lie down, exhausted and
despairing, and die at the thresholds of their habitations."

Such was the sway of Don Nicolas de Ovando in
Hispaniola. Under his rule the natives dwindled steadily; at his
orders they were enslaved, beaten into submission, driven into
the grave, by hundreds and by thousands; but worse was yet in
store for these unfortunate Indians of Hispaniola. They were to
be hounded to the verge of extermination by this same Ovando,
who, as soon as he was firmly seated as governor, began the
process of decimation.

Casting about for some defenceless natives upon whom
he might actively exercise his powers for evil, he found that a
tribe existed in the western part of the island which had not been
completely subjugated—that is, had not been wholly brought
under the system of repartimientos. It was ruled by a once-
beautiful caciquess, the sister of a cacique known as Behechio,
whose name was Anacaona. She had been a friend of that most
noble brother of Christopher Columbus, Don Bartholomew, and
this alone was sufficient to make her the victim of Ovando's
malevolence. Her beautiful daughter, Higuenamota, had been
beloved by a Spanish cavalier, one Hernando de Guevra, who on
this account had been persecuted by Christopher Columbus, at
the instigation of the rebel Roldan. The last-named, after
declaring against the rule of Columbus, several years previous to
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the arrival of Ovando, had finally come to terms with him, and
afterwards sought a retreat in Anacaona's province, where he and
his companions in iniquity perpetrated every species of crime
that their depraved natures could suggest. It may be imagined
what treatment the caciquess Anacaona received; and as to her
daughter's fate, history is silent, though tradition states it was
worse than death itself.

OLD PART OF ST. DOMINGO.

Anacaona's subjects were gentle and generous, like their
queen; they had received the Spaniards most hospitably, and had
never raised a hand nor drawn a sword against them prior to the
coming of Ovando. They even endured the ills this wretch had
put upon them without rising in open rebellion; yet they were not
wholly spiritless. They had endured so much that their
oppressors knew it was impossible for them to suffer more
without an appeal to arms; for they were numerically strong,
though inferior to the Spaniards in discipline, and lacking
weapons that could be used with effect against them.
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Though they had occasionally turned upon their
tormentors, and individual instances had occurred of Indians,
goaded to desperation, suddenly springing upon and throttling a
brutal Spanish overseer, there had been no concerted attempt at
an uprising. When, however, reports were brought to Ovando
that one was meditated by the sub-caciques of Anacaona’s tribe,
he eagerly availed himself of the opportunity for invading her
territory. He gathered together three hundred and seventy
soldiers, infantry and cavalry, and marched direct for Xaragua,
which was the seat of Anacaona'’s authority. To the unsuspecting
caciquess he sent word that he was coming on a friendly visit,
and Anacaona assembled all her chiefs and sub-caciques to do
him honor. Other Spaniards, notably Don Bartholomew
Columbus, had visited her as Ovando came, with an armed
force, and had been entertained without anything untoward
happening to her people; so she held this to be but another
instance of the kind. As the Spanish army approached her
village, troops of damsels met the soldiers with singing and
dancing, and the waving of palm-leaves over their heads. These
naked beauties were as innocent as they were graceful and
pleasing; yet but a few days passed ere many of them were
numbered with the hundreds of slain Indians that strewed the
very ground they trod in rhythmic measure.

After several days of feasting, during which the
Spaniards enjoyed every dainty known to the Indians, and which
the latter set before them with evident pleasure, the treacherous
Ovando, who had been brooding constantly over his suspicions,
gave the signal for a massacre. It had been preconcerted with his
officers that he was to lay his hand upon a cross he wore on his
breast—the cross of the high order of which he was a
commander, that of Alcantara—for the bloodshed to begin.
Comely Anacaona and her lovely daughter had just entered the
hut in which Ovando was lodged, accompanied by their train of
female attendants, to proffer a request that he would order a
joust of reeds to commence, in which the cavalry were to take
part. So he strode forth, but instead of contributing his share to

Original Copyright 1908 by Frederick A. Ober

17

the entertainment his Indian friends had provided, he requited
their hospitality with slaughter.

At the signal, the cavalry charged with drawn swords and
levelled lances upon the unsuspecting throng of naked Indians,
who had gathered in the square of the village to do honor to their
murderers. The infantry let loose their cross-bows and
arquebuses, hacked with their halberds and smote with battle-
axes, and shortly there was no Indian left alive in the square—or,
at least, no Indian whom the Spaniards intended should live.
Even children, and babes at their mothers' breasts, were slashed
with swords, and impaled on pikes and lances.

In one great house of the village were gathered eighty-
four of Anacaona's sub-caciques, and these were all burned
alive, or caught and hanged to trees as they escaped from the
flaming dwelling. Some of them were first put to the torture and
information elicited upon which the fiendish Ovando proceeded
against Anacaona, whom he took to Santo Domingo and hanged,
in front of the church—the second in America—which the
Spaniards had erected for the worship of the God they professed
to serve.

These things did Ovando, with whom, in Hispaniola,
Juan Ponce de Leon served as a soldier, from whom he received
the command that first brought him prominence, and the impulse
towards the career that placed